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Note  
 
This account of the history of Croftside Tennis Club has been pieced together from various 
sources including former and current members’ recollections, committee minutes and 
memorabilia from over the years including several press cuttings.  
 
It is very much a work in progress, and I apologise for any omissions or inaccuracies.  
 
If you have any additional information about the club including photos, particularly from the 
period when court three was constructed, please share them with the club and I will update 
this document.  
 
Thank you. 
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                                            Where It All Began 
 

 
Croftside Tennis club is situated in the area which was once known as Pownall Fee South, 
Morley.  
 
This features on the tithe map of 1842  
 

 
Tithe Map 1842 Reprinted with kind permission from Cheshire Archives 
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Close up of the plots from 1842 Tithe Map Reprinted with kind permission from 

Cheshire Archives 
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The plot was comprised of land known as ‘The Homestead’, ‘Croft’, ‘Long Croft’ and ‘Lower 
Croft’, and the owner was Sarah Robinson. 
 
The land changed hands several times down the years. The will of one of the owners, Mr 
John Fielding, dated 12.03.1889 mentions the purchase price of £750 for this estate which 
by then included a cottage, several outbuildings, a garden and several parcels of land.  
 

 
Conveyancing Documents Dated 1889 
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Conveyancing Documents Dated 1889 showing the tithe map numbered plots where 

Croftside is situated 
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In 1919 the estate was sold to Mr Arthur Boon. In (circa) 1922 an Arts and Craft style house 
called ‘The Croft’ was built on the land and a tennis court was added in the southeast corner 
of the grounds. It is thought that initially the court was used solely by the owner and his 
friends for many years.  
 
Former members of the club recall paying a subscription to use two courts in the 1940s and 
so another court must have been added in the intervening years. However, the exact date 
when Croftside became a club that was open to the public is not known.  
 
 

New Trustees  
 
When Arthur Boon died in 1934, the estate remained within the family, being left to Elsie 
and Doris Boon.  
 
Documents which are dated 27.05.54 refer to four appointed trustees of what, by then had 
come to be known as the ‘Croftside Tennis Club’. The 2954 square yards of land included 
two tennis courts and a pavilion which was thought to have been built in around 1928. The 
documents set out the plan for the whole plot to be leased to the trustees for 21 years for 
£30 per annum.  
 
Certain conditions were included in this agreement amongst which were the following: the 
courts were to be kept ‘in good order, and free from weeds’. Paths and netting were to be 
maintained and the pavilion was to be kept in good repair and painted ‘at least once every 
five years with two coats of good oil paint’ 
 
Conveyancing documents show that the lease ended in 1974 when the freehold to the land 
was bought by the trustees for £450.  
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1950 onwards  
 

It was during the late 1950s and 1960s that the club really seems to have taken shape.  
 
Annual tournaments took place with life members such as Mr and Mrs Crawshaw and Irene 
Pearson funding cups for the ladies singles, ladies doubles and the boys singles.  
 
 

 
Irene Pearson Cup for Ladies Singles  
 

 
In due course a men’s team was formed to play league matches which, needing three 
courts, were played at the nearby Wilmslow Grammar School. The groundsman was a baker 
in the local Dean’s Bakeshop which provided some post-match hotpot suppers, all duly 
served in the Croftside pavilion by the ladies. The nearest toilets were at the Horse and 
Jockey pub, the pavilion not being equipped with such luxurious facilities at that time. 
 
Minutes dating back to the 1950s show that an active club committee was now in place.  
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The minutes mention numerous fundraising activities in aid of the club including raffles, hot 
pot suppers, sherry parties, bring and buy cake sales, coffee mornings, jumble sales at the 
Lindow Church Rooms and an annual dance in the Rex ballroom or Dean Row Village Hall. 
There is also mention of a joint supper dance with Heyes Lane Tennis Club at the Regal 
Ballroom in Alderley Edge.  
 
It has been interesting going through the old committee meeting minutes to see the many 
differences in how the club was run back then: 
 

• New members had to be proposed, seconded and accepted by the committee and all 
resignations of membership were read out at committee meetings 

• Players were required to always wear white on court 

• The courts were closed during winter months with the committee agreeing each 
year on an opening date around the end of March/beginning of April 

 

Membership  
 
The minutes from the 1950s stated that the membership ‘be limited to 72 players of whom 
not more that 12 shall be juniors’ (minimum age 14 years old) and ‘6 be county members’ 
(residing outside of a radius of 8 miles, later lowered to 5 miles in 1962).  
 
Other interesting entries include reference to a Wilmslow Tennis Tournament in honour of 
the Queen’s Coronation in 1953.  
 
Membership dipped a little in the early 1960s and the committee worked hard to welcome 
new members. The meeting minutes of 1963 report that there was even discussion of the 
club closing following several years of declining membership. Filling places on the teams was 
increasingly difficult especially the ladies’ team. Several committee members left leaving 
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their positions vacant. It was decided that in the absence of any volunteers for the catering 
committee that ‘the lady members of the teams should be responsible’!  
 
The children’s coaching that took place at the club at this time was provided by members, 
notably Pam Walsh, Irene Pearson and Sue Case who all offered their time on a voluntary 
basis to try to encourage the junior members. 
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Good Times 
 

By the early 1970s it was clear that the hard work of the committee and the members had 
finally paid off. These decades were a time of real growth for Croftside with a thriving 
membership, success at county level, lots of team tennis and club tournaments.  
 
 

 
Junior shields depicting success in the North East Cheshire Lawn Tennis League in the 1970s 
 

 
A successful decade for Croftside Ladies (who were still in NECLTL Division 4 in the early 
1990s) 
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                Wilmslow Advertiser article 1970 (with kind permission of Reach plc) 
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                           Wilmslow Advertiser 1971 (with kind permission of Reach plc) 
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Wilmslow Advertiser 1975 (with kind permission of Reach plc) 
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The July Croftside Finals Day was a highlight not only in members’ calendars but also for the 
local community and was often featured in the local press as shown above.  
 
As the club only had two courts at this time, no men’s or ladies’ doubles matches feature on 
finals day and it is not known if there was a draw for these.  
 
Finals Day matches were overseen by members volunteering as umpires and line court 
judges. The strawberry teas that were provided on the day must have completed the SW19 
feel to the tournament. It attracted quite a crowd in those days as you can see in the photo 
below from 1973. 
 
 

 
 
Croftside Finals Day 1973 Brian Walsh boys’ singles champion. And a good crowd!  
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Croftside Finals Day 1975 The finalists. 

 
In the photo above you can see the Croftside finalists gathered around the trophy table 
wearing their whites and holding their wooden racquets.  
 
The umpire’s chair is just visible in the background on the left-hand side of the photo. 
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Croftside Finals Day 1975 Ladies singles finalists  

 
 

 
The trophy table and Croftside tournament finalists (year unknown) 
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Several members enjoyed great success in the club tournament over many years. In this 
press article from 1987, Pam Walsh and Norman Morrison feature yet again as club 
champions with a record 10th win for Pam in the ladies’ singles.  
 

 
 
Wilmslow Express Advertiser 1987. Pam Walsh pictured with shield (with kind permission of 
Reach plc) 
 
 
Finals Day was still going strong well into the 1990s. By now the club had its own logo and 
members could purchase Croftside sweatshirts and t shirts.  
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Croftside Finals Day 1991 – note the Croftside branded kit! 

 

 
Bunting and trophies 
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Croftside Finals Day (1993) Ladies Doubles Winners Pam Walsh and Alison Dyke 
 
 
The Finals Day Order of Play can be seen pinned to the noticeboard outside the old pavilion 
on the right-hand side behind Alison.  
 
Programmes were printed for those attending finals day which was usually held on a Sunday 
in late June or early July. 
 
The programmes started as small A5 leaflets. The example from 1975 below features a line 
drawing of the pavilion on the front cover.  
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Croftside Finals Day Programme 1975 Front Cover 
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Croftside Finals Day Programme 1975 contents 
 
 
 
 
In time the Finals Day programmes became more elaborate and comprehensive as shown 
below in the A4 programmes from 1979 and 1980. It is thought that the tradition of the 
printed programme continued until at least 1995.  
 
The full draw for each of the singles and doubles draws were included in the programme, all 
neatly hand drawn.   
 
A comment about the weather- and its impact on the tournament- was always included and 
the umpires were named in the ‘Order of Play’. 
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Croftside Finals Day Programme 1979 Front Cover  
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Croftside Finals Day Programme 1979 First Page 
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Croftside Finals Day Programme 1979: the draw for the ladies’, girls’ and boys’ singles 
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Croftside Finals Day Programme 1979 showing the draw for the men’s singles. 
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Croftside Finals Day Programme 1980 Front Cover 
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Croftside Finals Day Programme 1980 First Page 
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New Courts Please 
 
Court three was added to Croftside in July 1976. The land on which it was built was a piece 
of rough grassland belonging to the club that members had used for parking.  
 
Sadly, there are no photos of the club showing just the two original courts nor of the 
construction of court three. All that remains is a letter dated 15th July 1976 from the 
solicitors acting for clients local to the club which was sent to the Chief Planning officer of 
the then Macclesfield Borough Council.   
In the letter it states that, provided that certain conditions were respected, the clients had 
no objection to the re-siting of the third court ‘in the interests of good neighbourliness, and 
as they have no desire to prevent the Tennis Club members enjoying the facilities.’ 
 
Construction went ahead, and the addition of a third court was a cause for celebration for 
club members; teams could now finally play their league matches on home soil and 
everyone could enjoy more court space. Nearby rivals Lindow Tennis Club, who were one of 
the strongest clubs in the North East Cheshire League at this time, had five courts so the 
addition of Croftside’s third court was a welcome ‘levelling up’.  
 
In 1999, the three shale courts were all resurfaced with the AstroTurf that is still there 
today. New netting was installed, and the old wooden gateways and posts were replaced 
with green metalwork. 
 
Once again, club members pulled together to fundraise for the court resurfacing by holding 
jumble sales and other events. Some members offered interest free loans to the club whilst 
others bought ‘forward’ subscriptions for membership to help finance the courts. 
Meanwhile committee members such as Bob Farr (who oversaw the resurfacing work) and 
Rick Megginson were busy putting in applications for funding to enable the work to be 
carried out. They were successful in securing a grant from the Foundation for Sport and the 
Arts for the princely sum of £31,500. 
 
The resurfacing was a timely improvement to the club since the old shale courts were 
becoming increasingly waterlogged due to the wet weather. Matches were frequently 
postponed or cancelled and the premises in general were in need of a makeover. 
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      Court three floods again 
 

 
Broken netting on courts one and two 
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Rain stops play 
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17 August 1999 - The resurfacing work begins as the old courts are dug 
up 
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Drainage materials are laid and new posts are planted  
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28 September 1999- the surface is rolled ready for the AstroTurf  
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The new posts are installed and the rolls of AstroTurf arrive  
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12th October 1999- the sand arrives by tanker and is sprayed onto 
the new court surface 
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23rd October 1999 and the new courts are opened 
 

 
Mike Rodwell, who was Chairman of Croftside, receives a cheque for the court resurfacing in 1999 
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The Early 2000s 
 
By the early 2000s club membership was declining and the average age of members was 
rising. The men’s tennis team continued to play in the league but the ladies’ team ceased to 
exist due to lack of players and junior tennis dwindled. 
 
By 2008, the number of senior members dropped to just 38 with even fewer juniors. Such 
was the severity of the situation that the committee held an extraordinary general meeting 
to discuss how they might handle the sale of the site if the club should have to fold.  
 
Thankfully, the committee did not give up easily, resolving to keep the club open for as long 
as they could and deciding to have a recruitment drive aimed at young families. They asked 
the Cheshire LTA to recommend a young coach and Tom Hunt was recruited.  
Next, they approached the primary schools offering family membership deals, and every 
Saturday morning committee members would support Tom's coaching sessions and 
encourage parents to join the club.  
 
Membership snowballed. Social events were arranged, and many parents of junior members 
dusted off their racquets and returned to tennis in Tom’s ‘Rusty Racquets’ classes. The 
North East Cheshire Ladies’ tennis team was resurrected in 2014 and a couple of years later 
a second ladies’ team was added, playing in the South West Manchester League.  
 

 
The new Croftside kit 

 
By 2017 there were numerous junior teams, 3 men’s and two ladies’ teams, a new kit and a 
busy calendar of coaching for all ages. The club became a limited company and it was clear 
that the time had come for another significant update of the facilities, this time in the form 
of a new clubhouse.  A grant was secured from Sport England and ICE Architecture were 
appointed to work with the committee to design the new building.  
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A New Clubhouse 
 
By the time it was finally demolished the original Croftside pavilion was nearly ninety years 
old. It was looking the worse for wear with subsiding wooden floors and leaks in the roof.  

 
 

 
The old Croftside tennis pavilion  
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The demolition begins… 
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The new foundations are dug and the first bricks are laid 
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Brick by brick the new building takes shape  
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The roof goes on 
 

 

 
 



 44 

The windows and doors are installed 
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Work starts on the interior 
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Meanwhile outside the windows are finished and preparations for 
the decking are underway 
 

 
 

A final coat of paint in the kitchen area and … 
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Mission accomplished! 
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The grand opening with MP Esther McVey 9 July 2017 
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In 2019 LED lighting was added to courts one and two enabling 
coaching and play to continue for longer during the winter months. 
 

 
Floodlights 

 

With the help of the local community, a defibrillator was purchased 
and installed on the side of the clubhouse in 2019.  
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Closing Note 
 
 At the time of writing, Croftside Tennis Club currently has a thriving membership of 327 
members 
 
There are twenty-one junior teams, four men’s teams and two ladies’ teams. Plans are afoot 
for the resurfacing of the courts to bring the surface up to a better standard and the 
committee, as always, is working hard to keep the club running smoothly.  
 
There are far too many names to mention here but we owe a huge debt of gratitude to all 
the people who have volunteered their time over the years to make Croftside Tennis Club 
what it is today. 
 
Thank you. And here’s to the next 100 years!  
 
            
                     Marg Charlesworth  

December 2022 


